IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FEDERAL INS. CO., ROBERT REED, and JENNIFER REED

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01148

D&D DRILLING & EXPLORATION, INC. and JAMES POLK.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAMAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI Case No. 2006-71P

Joseph A. Ziemianski (MS Bar No. Jason S. Schulze (TX Bar No. COZEN O'CONNOR
One Houston Center
1221 McKinney, Suite 2900
Houston, Texas 77010
(832)214-3916

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT FEDERAL INS. CO.

Alex J. Shook (WV Bar No. HAMSTEAD WILLIAMS & SHOOK PLLC 315 High Street Morgantown, WV 26505 (304)296-3636

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS
ROBERT REED and JENNIFER REED

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST ROBERT AND JENNIFER REED WHEN GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS TO WHO WAS IN CONTROL OF THE JOBSITE AT THE TIME MR. REED'S INJURY OCCURRED
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT COMPLETELY FAILED TO ADDRESS MR. REED'S COMMON LAW NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST POLK

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. <u>Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in</u> the Circuit Court

Robert Reed ("Mr. Reed") was injured on March 22, 2005, while working at a well referred to as the "Weyerhauser 119-13" well in Baxterville Field, Lamar County. Mr. Reed was employed by Directional Drilling Contractors, LLC ("DDC"), who was retained by the well owner, Penn Va., to direct the directional drilling aspect of the project. D & D Drilling and Exploration, Inc. ("D & D") was also retained by Penn Va. and was charged with performing the actual drilling work. After he was injured, Mr. Reed filed suit against D & D, James Polk ("Polk"), and Penn Va. Penn Va. is no longer a party to these proceedings.

On March 21, 2008, D & D and Polk filed their third Motion for Summary Judgment arguing (among other things) that Mr. Reed was solely responsible for his injuries because his employer (as opposed to him personally) was expected to "direct" all aspects of the directional drilling activities. On April 11, 2008, Mr. Reed filed his response to D & D and Polk's Motion. On June 6, 2008, the Lamar County Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of Appellees, D & D and Polk. Appellants Robert and Jennifer Reed now appeal this decision and timely filed their Notice of Appeal on July 1, 2008.

II. Statement of Facts

A. Relationship of the Parties

Penn Va. entered into a contract with D & D to perform services at a well referred to as "Weyerhauser 19-13" located in Baxterville Field, Lamar County. The contract specifically provided that D & D would furnish equipment, labor, and perform services under the direction, supervision and control of Penn Va. inclusive of any consultant or subcontractor engaged by Penn Va. to direct the drilling operations.

Mr. Reed's employer, DDC, was then retained by Penn Va. to direct the directional drilling aspect of the project. Mr. Reed and fellow DDC employee Tim Spicer were assigned to oversee the directional drilling at the Weyerhauser well. Even though DDC would direct the drilling operations, Mr. Reed did not exert ultimate authority over D & D employees. The ultimate right to control D & D employees remained with the D & D supervisor or "toolpusher" that was on site.

Polk was an agent/employee of D & D acting within the scope of his employment at the time of the accident in question. Reed was a third party to the relationship between Polk and D & D, and

¹Certified Record ("CR"), 0208-0219

²CR, 0208.

³CR, **0**223

¹CR, 0222

⁵CR, 0232

[°]CR, 0233

had no authority over Polk. D & D and DDC had no contractual relationship, but rather were two independent contractors responsible for different aspects of the drilling operation at Weyerhauser 19-13.

The directional drillers' responsibility was to plot and chart the coordinates of the directional drill, but D & D employees operated the motors and other components of the drilling rig. For the majority of the time on the job site, Reed would monitor the direction of the drill from a truck and was not physically present on the rig. As such, even though DDC was responsible for directing the drilling operations, D & D was responsible for providing and operating the drilling rig. D & D also supplied equipment used in drilling operations, including (but not limited to) what is commonly referred to as a "come-along."

B. Installation of the "come-along"

On or about March 20th, DDC employee Tim Spicer found it necessary to use D & D's come-along during the directional drilling operation to ensure that the drill was proceeding in the right direction. It was necessary to attach the come-along to the "Kelly" to hold the rotary table in place to counteract the reactive torque created during the drilling process, and to

²CR, 0224.

^sCR. 0235

[°]CR. 0240-0243

ensure that the drill continued in the direction called for in the drilling coordinates. There are other ways to hold the "Kelly" in place including a winch line controlled by hydraulics, an "air tugger," "power swivels," or "top drives." Because the rig supplied by D & D was quite old and did not contain any of these devices, Mr. Spicer had no choice but to use the come-along. 12

The come-along was installed by Mr. Spicer of DDC and Messrs. Polk and Brown of D & D.¹³ The come-along performed without incident while in service, and D & D employees actually removed and reinstalled it prior to the incident made the basis of this suit.¹⁴ No one questioned the safety of using the come-along for this application, and it is undisputed that Mr. Reed had no involvement in the selection or initial installation of the come-along.¹⁵

C. The Day of the Accident

At approximately 6:00 a.m. on March 22, 2005, Mr. Reed entered the rig floor because James Polk was having problems controlling the pressure in the hole. 16 Mr. Reed and Polk unsuccessfully worked the drill string together in an effort to

¹⁰CR, 0244.

¹¹CR, 0245

¹²CR, 0.243 and 0.245.

¹³CR, 0235

¹⁴CR, 0254 and 0253

¹⁵CR, 0235

¹⁶CR, 0227

reduce the hole pressure. 17 Mr. Reed then asked Polk to kill the mud pump, and then to bring it back to an idle. 16

After the pump motor was idling, Mr. Reed told Polk and his assistants Jason Brown and Dencil Powell that they would need to let the come-along off slowly to allow the "bushing" to fall back into alignment. 19 Mr. Reed walked over to the come-along to assist Messrs. Brown and Powell with safely and slowly releasing the come-along. 30 Once he examined the come-along, he noticed that there was tension on it, so Mr. Reed bent over to retrieve a "cheater" pipe to assist with releasing the come-along. 21 Unbeknownst to Mr. Reed, Polk had left the driller's consol (which contains all of the controls for the rig equipment including the ability to start and stop the rig's pumps) to assist Mr. Reed. 22 As Mr. Reed was standing, he noticed that Polk was about to strike the come-along with a hammer despite the fact that he had received no instruction to do so. 3 As Mr. Reed shouted for him to stop, Polk struck the come-along causing the drill string to violently turn rapidly in reverse. 34 This caused the cable and the remaining head of the come-along to strike Mr.

¹⁷CR, 0227.

¹⁸CR, 0228.

¹⁹CR, 0229

²⁰CR, 0230

²¹CR, 0230.

²²CR, 0257.

²³CR, 0231

²⁴CR, 0231 and 0258

Reed and Polk as it swung around the rig floor, 25 Both Mr. Reed and Polk suffered significant personal injuries.

 $_{58}CB' 0528$

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants argue that there are genuine issues of material fact in the matter *sub judice* that are appropriate for a jury to decide. These questions include who was in control of the jobsite at the time Mr. Reed's injury occurred, or alternatively, whether the issue of control is a relevant inquiry given that Mr. Reed (who was employed by a subcontractor) was injured by another subcontractor.

Mr. Reed would show that he was a business invitee on the drilling rig that was supplied by D & D. Moreover, even if Mr. Reed was in control of the directional drilling activities, D & D still owned and maintained control of the drilling rig and all its equipment at the time of the accident. Therefore, D & D breached its duty to Mr. Reed by failing to maintain a safe jobsite.

Additionally, Mr. Reed's injuries were foreseeable by Polk. Thus, Polk owed Mr. Reed a duty to refrain from injuring him under common law negligence principles. Polk knew the come-along had pressure on it and clearly had control over himself and the hammer with which he struck the come-along.

Because issues of material fact remain, summary judgment by the Lamar County Circuit Court was improper and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a summary judgment granted to D & D and Polk, by the Circuit Court of Lamar County, Mississippi. The Supreme Court applies the same standard as the Trial Court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. Under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, 56(c), a motion for summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Irby v. North MS Medical Ctr., 654 So, 2d 495, 499 (Miss. 1995). The Court is to view the facts in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Quinn v. Mississippi State Univ., 720 So.2d 843 (Miss. 1998). The Court also conducts a de novo review of a lower court's grant of summary judgment. Travis v. Stewart, 680 So.2d 214, 216 (Miss. 1996) (cited in Ainsworth v. Capform, Inc., 784 So.2d 1008 (Miss.App. 2001); see also Swan v. I.P., Inc., 613 So.2d 61, 63 (Miss. 1988); Pearl River County Bd. Of Supervisors v. South East Collections Agency, Inc., 459 So.2d 783, 785 (Miss. 1984); and Dennis v. Searle, 457 So.2d 941, 944 (Miss. 1984).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST ROBERT AND JENNIFER REED WHEN GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS TO WHO WAS IN CONTROL OF THE JOBSITE AT THE TIME MR. REED'S INJURY OCCURRED.

A. Mr. Reed was a business invitee.

Under Mississippi law, the general rule is that a general contractor on a construction site is in control of the premises and is burdened with the duty to use ordinary reasonable care to provide a safe place for employees of a subcontractor to work. Oden Const. Co. v. McPhail, 228 So.2d 586, 588 (Miss. 1969). Additionally, the general contractor also has a duty to oversee the conditions of the work of each subcontractor so far as they affect the safety of employees of other contractors. Id. Here, Penn Va. was the general contractor of the Weyerhauser 19-13 well project and D & D was a subcontractor. As the general contractor, Penn Va. was charged with a duty to provide a safe jobsite. Mississippi Power Co. v. Brooks, 309 So.2d 863, 866 (Miss. 1975). The fact that Penn Va., as the general contractor, was required to provide a safe working environment for Mr. Reed does not absolve subcontractor D & D (as Polk's employer) from liability for its own acts of negligence that cause harm or injury to employees of other subcontractors. Ainsworth at 1011. (In Ainsworth, a construction worker brought a personal injury suit against a subcontractor who left a steel rebar in the ground over which the construction worker tripped. The Court of Appeals held that summary judgment could not be awarded where issues of material fact, as to who was responsible for the location of the steel rebar, were in question); Accu-Fab & Constr., Inc. v. Ladner, 2000 WL 274291 (Miss. App. 2000) (In Accu-Fab, the

Mississippi Court of Appeals found that the subcontractor, AccuFab was to be held to the same standard of ordinary care due to a
business invitee as the general contractor. The facts of Accu-Fab
created a jury question upon which a jury could determine that
the general contractor and the subcontractor breached its duty of
reasonable care.)

DDC, Mr. Reed's employer, was not a subcontractor of D & D, but a subcontractor of Penn Va. The relationship of Mr. Reed to D & D was therefore akin to a business invitee relationship, as he had no contractual relationship with D & D and/or its agent/employee, Polk. "An invitee is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage."

Lumbley v. Ten Point Co., 556 So.2d 1026, 1029 (Miss. 1989)

(citing Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co. Inc., 358 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1978)). Mr. Reed's employer DDC was a subcontractor on the premises where the injury occurred. There is no question in that Mr. Reed's presence on behalf of DDC benefitted both the premises owner and DDC. Therefore, Mr. Reed must be considered a business invitee.

The duty owed to a business invitee is as follows:

In Mississippi, an owner, occupant, or person in charge of a premises owes to an invitee or business visitor a duty to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition or to warn the invitee of dangerous conditions, not readily apparent, which the owner or occupier knows of or

should know of in the exercise of reasonable care. (Emphasis added)

Waller v. Dixieland Food Stores, Inc., 492 So.2d 283, 286 (Miss. 1986) (citing Wilson v. Allday, 487 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1986); Down v. Corder, 377 So.2d 603 (Miss. 1979); and J.C. Penney Co. v. Sumrall, 318 So.2d 829 (Miss. 1975)).

B. As an occupier of the property, D & D owed a duty to Mr. Reed to maintain a safe jobsite.

Mr. Reed contends that since he was a business invitee, and D & D was occupying the area where the injury occurred, that D & D must be held to the standard of care due to an invitee.

Contrary to Mississippi case law, D & D argues that because it had no ownership interest in the jobsite, it should not be held to the reasonable standard of care owed to a business invitee.

See Accu-Fab & Constr., Inc. v. Ladner, 2000 WL 274291 (Miss. App. 2000). However, as stated in the order granting summary judgment, D & D Drilling was the actual owner of the rig, and Polk's actions were negligent. Physical Pole D therefore owed a duty to Mr. Reed not to negligently injure him.

C. Even if Mr. Reed was in control of the directional drilling activities, D & D still owned and maintained control of the drilling rig and all its equipment at the time of the accident and therefore, D & D breached its duty to Mr. Reed by failing to maintain a safe jobsite.

Although DDC was responsible for the directional drilling aspect of the drilling operation, that responsibility consisted

²⁶CR, 0297

solely of installing the steering equipment, setting the coordinates and making sure the drill was going in the right direction. The majority of the directional drillers' time was spent sitting in a truck monitoring a computer screen making sure that the drill bit was going in the right direction. D & D owned the rig in question. D & D employees operated all of the equipment on the drilling riq. Occasionally, the directional driller would have to assist the D & D drillers to make sure the drill bit was properly aliqued so as to hit the coordinates set for the direction of the drill. However, to the extent DDC was in control of the directional drilling aspect of this drill, it was merely to keep the drill bit heading in the right direction. In this case, DDC employees were required to use D & D's come-along on D & D's rig to keep the drill heading in the right direction. In no way did DDC assume control over the operation of the riq. Polk and D & D retained complete control over all of the moving parts of the drilling rig. Mr. Reed's control over the directional drilling aspect of the drill does not relieve Polk from his duty to refrain from injuring others with equipment it supplied with the rig. Therefore, Polk and D & D were in complete control over the operation of the moving parts of the drilling rig.

As stated by this Court, a duty is owed to an invitee for hidden or latent defects which are known to the owner in the exercise of reasonable care. Lumbley v. Ton point Co. 556 So.2d

1026, 1029 (Miss. 1989). "Latent defect" has been defined as "a hidden or concealed defect." Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed.

Constructive knowledge is deemed to be proven when a dangerous condition exists for a length of time sufficient enough to give the person or entity in control of the premises reasonable notice. Stelly v. Barlo Woods, Inc., 830 F.Supp. 936, 943 (S.D. Miss. 1993) (citing Waller at 286 (citing Douglas v. Great Atlantic and Pacific Tea Co., 405 So.2d 107 (Miss. 1981))).

Actual knowledge is proven if the owner or occupier of a premises created or caused the dangerous condition to exist.

It is undisputed that Mr. Reed did not suggest that the come-along be utilized for this application. The further, Mr. Reed was not involved in the initial decision to use the come-along, and simply arrived at the drilling rig to discover that the come-along had been installed by employees of D & D and Mr. Reed's immediate supervisor. No one with D & D ever expressed concern regarding the use of the come-along to Mr. Reed, and indeed, there were absolutely no problems with the come-along until Polk unilaterally decided to strike it with a hammer supplied by D & D in direct contravention of instructions provided by Mr. Reed.

Interestingly, D & D employees Jason Brown and Dencil Powell actually removed the come-along during drilling operations prior

²⁷CR, 0226

²⁸CR, 0235

to the incident. 29 Because D & D employees removed and then reinstalled the come-along, D & D cannot now shield itself from liability by arquing that Mr. Reed's "use" of the come-along caused his injuries. If D & D (who apparently now argues that the simple act of installing the come-along created a "dangerous condition") reinstalled the come-along despite its "safety" concerns, they bear at least some responsibility for the fact that the come-along was in place on the day of the accident as they could have simply refused to reinstall it once it was removed. Alternatively (and more likely), the fact that they removed and reinstalled the come-along demonstrates that the "use" of the come-along for this application was not dangerous in and of itself. Polk's mental lapse in his decision to strike the come-along is what caused Mr. Reed's injuries, not the simple act of Mr. Reed trying to perform his job with the assistance of a piece of equipment that was owned and provided by D & D.

Mr. Reed submits that D & D's actual (or in the alternative constructive) knowledge of the dangers of using the come-along, coupled with their subsequent approval of using the device when they reinstalled it, constituted a failure to use ordinary care for the safety of others. Whether or not reasonable care was used by D & D, or alternatively, whether D & D was actively negligent, is a question of fact appropriate for a jury to decide.

²⁹CR, 0253 and 0252

 Because D & D maintained control of the drilling rig and all its equipment at the time of the accident, it is not afforded protection under the "intimately-related" defense

The "intimately-related" defense to an independent contractor's premises liability claim is only available to an owner/occupier that releases complete control of the premises to the contractor. Magee v. Transcontinental Gas Pip Line Corp., 551 So.2d 182, 185 (Miss. 1989). Whether the owner/occupier released complete control of the premises is primarily governed by the terms of the contract. Id. The Contract that governed the work performed at the jobsite where Mr. Reed was injured was executed between D & D and the premises owner, Penn Va.30 There was no contract provision providing authority or control over the jobsite to DDC. D & D failed to submit any summary judgment evidence that DDC assumed complete control over the jobsite.

Accordingly, D & D is not entitled to the protection under the "intimately-related" defense, as complete control of the jobsite was never relinquished to DDC.

Contrary to D & D's assertions, the evidence demonstrates that DDC was merely a consultant for the directional drilling aspect of the project. DDC had no authority to supervise or control D & D's employees, and D & D employees continued to

³⁰CR, 0208-0219.

³¹CR, 0248

³²CR 0247-0248

work at the jobsite while DDC handled the directional drilling. Because D & D supplied the rig, owned and supplied all of the equipment at the jobsite, and maintained control over the rig and all of its corresponding equipment, it can hardly be argued that complete control of the jobsite had been relinquished to DDC. As such, Defendants should not be afforded protection under the "intimately-related" defense.

2. Because there is no evidence that Mr. Reed knew or should have known of the dangers at the jobsite, D & D is not afforded protection under the "knowledge of the danger" doctrine

D & D relied on MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-6-66 (an affirmative defense commonly referred to as the "knowledge of the danger" defense) in its Motion for Summary Judgement.³³ A party relying on an affirmative defense carries the burden of pleading and proving that defense. Miss. R. Civ. P., 8(c); Graham v. Pugh, 417 So.2d 540-41 (Miss. 1982). In a summary judgment motion, the moving party carries the burden of proving each element of an affirmative defense under MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-6-66 as a matter of law.

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