SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-CA-01148

ROBERT REED AND JENNIFER REED

Plaintiffs - Appellants

versus

D&D DRILLING & EXPLORATION, INC. and JAMES POLK

Defendant - Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE LAMAR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE D & D DRILLING AND EXPLORATION, INC. AND JAMES POLK

Donna M. Meehan (MSB # Michael D. Simmons (MSB COSMICH, SIMMONS & BROWN, PLLC 120 North Congress Street, Suite 400 (39201) Post Office Box 22626 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2626 601-863-2100 Telephone 601-863-0078 Facsimile

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-CA-01148

ROBERT RE ED AND JENNIFER REED

APPELLANTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This court reviews a circuit court's grant of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standards as the circuit court. Following a *de novo* review, this Court should affirm the lower court in all respects.

First, this Court should affirm the dismissal of Reed's premises liability claims because Reed failed to demonstrate that (1) a task *other than* directional drilling was taking place at the time of the accident and (2) that he was not only aware that the "come along" was a attached to D & D's rig and created a danger, but that he was the one that attached it to D & D's rig in the early morning hours of March 22, 2005, just hours before it came loose. Instead, Reed merely argues that it was his co-worker, Tim Spicer, who first introduced the "come along" to D & D's rig on March 20, 2005⁸ and since there were accidents then, accordingly, that the use of the "come along" must have posed no danger.

Second, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the Reed's claim because all the documented evidence, including the D & D–Penn Virginia Contact; DDC's End of Well Report, invoicing to Penn Virginia for work completed; Reed's job description; sworn deposition testimony, including that provided by Reed; and the uncontroverted affidavit testimony of Penn Virginia's James McKinney prove that Reed, by and through his employment with DDC and as contractually obligated, was in control of the drilling activities that were in progress at the time of the accident. In efforts to avert this finding, Reed summarily argues, without any credible or probative evidence to support his contention, that the "ultimate right to control D & D employees remained with the D & D supervisor or toolpusher." In fact, all the evidence in this case supports the lower court's findings on the issue of control and contractual superiority.

⁸ Appellant's Brief at 4, Section B.

ARGUMENT

D & D's summary judgment motion argued that dismissal of Reed's negligence claim was appropriate because Reed, an independent contractor aboard D & D's rig, was in control of all aspects of the tasks being performed at the time of the accident and because the undisputed and material evidence demonstrated that Reed's injuries were intimately connected with the job he was specifically retained to perform and Reed had knowledge of the dangerous condition created when he placed the "come along" on D & D's rig earlier the morning of the accident.

The lower court agreed with D & D's arguments and granted summary judgment under the negligence theory Reed pled. Reed's brief addresses the circuit court's ruling as it concerns the issue of control and knowledge of the danger and argues immaterial facts and unsupported assertions, which the circuit court did not rely upon in reaching its decision. Additionally, Reed argues, for the first time here, a concept of agency law and implores this Court to find Polk negligent under a theory of agency never presented to the lower court.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AFTER CONSIDERING THE INDISPUTABLE DOCUMENTED EVIDENCE, DEPOSITION TESTIMONY PRESENTED BY REED AND AFFIDAVIT TESTIMONY.

A. Summary Judgment Standard

The standard of review by which an appellate court reviews the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is *de novo*. *Nofsinger v. Irby*, 961 So.2d 778, 779-80 (¶7)(Miss. App. 2007).

Rule 56(c) of the MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE states that the motion for summary judgment should be granted if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." MISS. R. CIV. PROC. 56(c).

Where a party has moved for summary judgment on an issue, the burden of production rests on the party who, at trial, would have the burden of proof on that issue. *Webster v. Mississippi Publisher's Corp.*, 571 So. 2d 946, 949 (Miss. 1990). The movant has no duty to provide an evidentiary predicate to negate the existence of a material fact as to those issues on which he does not bear the burden of proof at trial. Rather, as to issues where the movant does not bear the burden of proof at trial, he must initially only make a sufficient "informing," "pointing out," or "showing" that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-movant's case. *McFarland v. Leake*, 864 So.2d 959, 961 (¶3)(Miss. App. 2003).

To avoid summary judgment, the non-moving party must establish a genuine issue of material fact within the means allowable under the Rule. *Vaughn v. Estate of Worrell*, 828 So.2d 780, 783 (¶10)(Miss. 2002). A material fact is a factual issue "that matters in an outcome determinative sense." *Vaughn*, 828 So.2d at 783 (¶9). A material fact is one which resolves any "of the issues, properly raised by parties." *Stegall v. WTWU, Inc.* 609 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. 1992). In *Shaw v. Burchfield*, 481 So. 2d 247 (Miss. 1985), the Mississippi Supreme Court held:

Of importance here is the language of the rule authorizing summary judgment "where there is no genuine issue of *material* fact."[W]e have kept ever before us that basis tenet of Rule 56 theology that the existence of a hundred contested issues of fact will not thwart summary judgment where there is no genuine dispute regarding the material issues of fact. [emphasis added].

Shaw, 481 So. 2d at 252. See also Otts v. Lynn, 955 So.2d 934, 939 (¶14) (Miss. Ct App, 2007)(restating the same standard twenty-two years after Shaw.)

B. The Circuit Court Applied the Correct Negligence Standard When it Dismissed Robert Reed's Claims.

Mississippi law requires that a premises owner (here D & D as owner of the subject rig) to

furnish the employees of an independent contractor with a "reasonably safe place to work or give

warning of danger." Mississippi Chemical Corp. v. Rogers, 368 So.2d 220, 222 (Miss. 1979) (citing

Mississippi Power Co. v. Brooks, 309 So.2d 863 (Miss. 1975)). However,

[a]s an exception to the general rule requiring the owner or occupier of premises to furnish a safe place of work to an independent contractor and employees thereof, the owner or occupier is under no duty to protect them against risks arising from or intimately connected with defects of the premises, or of machinery or appliances located thereon....Additionally, the owner is not liable for death or injury of an independent contractor or one of his employees resulting from dangers which the contractor, as an expert, has known, or as to which he and his employees "assumed the risk." When a danger exists, which is inherent to the work the independent contractor is employed to perform, or which arises from or is intimately connected with the work to be performed, the employer's duty to protect the contractor is absolved. Additionally, the premises owner's liability is limited by the extent to which he has "devolved upon the contractor the right and fact of control of the premises and the nature of the work."

Nofsinger, 961 So.2d at 781 (¶10) (internal citations omitted)

The lower court correctly examined the undisputed and relevant material facts in light of the

above long-standing Mississippi case law and prevailing statutory law and correctly found that any

and all of these three factors, i.e., intimately connected, knowledge of the danger and right and fact

of control, warranted dismissal of Reed's claims.

į

1. The lower court correctly found that Robert Reed, by and through his employment with DDC controlled, by right and fact, all aspects of the work during the directional drilling phase of the Project and those in progress at the time of the accident.

It is undisputed that Robert Reed was an independent contractor while on D & D's rig. It is undisputed that Robert Reed was on D & D's rig for the specific purpose of performing all tasks associated with the directional drilling aspect of the drill. It is undisputed that Reed, as the on-duty Directional Driller, supervise[d] the assembly of the downhole tools by rig personnel⁹, instruct[ed] the Driller¹⁰ on the appropriate drilling parameters to be used (weight on bit, rpm's, pump output) to drill the directional plan. (R. at 480; R.E. at 178) In fact, not only did Reed's employer, DDC, charge Reed with supervisory duties over the D & D rig crew during the directional drill, but Penn Virginia specifically arranged with DDC to perform all aspects of the directional drilling phase of the Project and contractually required D & D to operate <u>under</u> the direction, supervision and control of DDC and its representative employees during the directional or angled phase of the Project. (R. at 308; R.E. at 8).

Other factors that unquestionably confirm that Reed was in control of the rig and the operations ongoing at the time of the accident include Reed's testimony wherein he admittedly dictated and ordered every action taken by the D & D crew (R. at 386-91; R.E. at 86-91), the testimony of his counterpart, Tim Spicer (R. at 460; R.E. at 160) and the very billing submitted to Penn Virginia from DDC. (R. at 483-84; R.E. at 181-82).

As it concerns the circumstances surrounding the "come along", it is undisputed that Reed attached the "come along" to the rotary table to guide the drill string during his directional drill, before Polk and his crew even arrived at the rig. (R. at 394-95; R.E. at 94-95). It is undisputed that Reed, in carrying out his supervisory role, ordered Polk to work the string, which is attached to DDC truck and manipulated by the "come along" multiple times because of hole problems during the directional drill. (R. at 378, 385-86; R.E. at 78, 85-86). It is undisputed Reed ordered Polk to turn the pump motor off and then on again. (R. at 396; R.E. at 96). It is undisputed that Reed instructed the D & D crew to quickly remove the "come along" and began to help take it off seconds before the

į

⁹ Here, the D & D crew.

¹⁰ Here, James Polk.

"come along" released. (R. at 389-90; R.E. at 89-90); (R. at 490; R.E. at 188)

Reed argued in the lower court, as he does here, that D & D never relinquished "control" of its rig because D & D "retained control over all the moving parts." However, Reed does not and cannot dispute the fact that while the D & D crew may had retained physical contact with the "moving parts" of the rig, every action and reaction performed by the D & D crew, including Polk, was directed by Reed as to when, where and how the "moving parts" were to be moved. Even Reed testified that he had the authority to "instruct" the D & D crew while on their rig because Reed and DDC "had the proposal." (R. at 377; R.E. at 77). Reed did not dispute any of these facts while before the circuit court and he does not dispute these facts here, because he cannot. The law does not require D & D and Mr. Polk to throw in the towel and walk off the rig to demonstrate that Reed controlled the rig and all aspects of the work at the time he was injured. Rather, what is critical is whether the D & D maintained any right of control over the <u>performance of that aspect of the work</u> that has given rise to the injury. *Magee v. Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp.*, 551 So.2d 182, 186 (Miss. 1989). The facts of this case clearly demonstrate that Reed exercised control over the performance of the directional drilling operations.

Having correctly found that Reed was in control over the performance of the aspect of work that was taking place at the time he was injured, the circuit court then determined the status of the parties and the duty owed as a result of that status. Based on the contractual language finding that "D & D employees were under the direct control and supervision of DDC employees throughout the course of its work on th[e] Project, specifically the day of th[e] incident" (R. at 619; R.E. at 203) the circuit court determined, as Reed argues as well, that Reed was a business invitee. (R. at 619; R.E. at 203).

20

In accordance with Mississippi law, the circuit court held that D & D, as the owner of the rig, owed Reed the duty to use reasonable care to keep its premises in a reasonably safe condition and furnish the employees of an independent contractor with a reasonably safe place to work or give adequate warnings. The circuit court also correctly determined that the two long held exceptions to this duty applied.

2. The lower court correctly found that Robert Reed's injuries were intimately connected to the directional drilling activities he was hired to perform and was performing at the time of the accident

The "intimately connected" exception to the general duty a premises owner owes to an independent contractor provides that a premises owner or lessee is not liable for injuries sustained by an independent contractor working on the premises where the injuries arise out of and are intimately connected to the work the independent contractor is performing at the time of the accident. *See Vu v. Clayton*, 765 So.2d 1253 (Miss. 2000).

In efforts to avoid the intimately connected exception to the general duty owed to an independent contractor while on the premises of another, Reed argues, *albeit* incorrectly, that D & D never relinquished control of the jobsite to DDC and the contract for services was between D & D and Penn Virginia and not DDC and D & D.

First, Reed's argument that "DDC had no authority to supervise or control D & D's employees" is negated by the overwhelming evidence, *i.e.*, Reed's job description, DDC's End Well Report, DDC's invoicing, Reed's deposition testimony and affidavit testimony–all of which clearly demonstrate that DDC–and specifically Reed –was indeed in control of the operations that were being conducted at the time Reed was injured.

Second, though Reed provides no legal authority for his position, Reed argues that because DDC and D & D were not contractually engaged with each other, Reed is not subject to the

ŧ

21

intimately connected doctrine. Twenty eight years ago, the Mississippi Supreme Court disagreed with the position Reed takes here in the matter of *Fortenberry Drilling Co., Inc. v. Mathis*, 391 So.2d 105 (Miss. 1980), which remains the prevailing law today.

In *Fortenberry*, Damson Oil Corporation (Damson) engaged the services of several independent contractors to perform a variety of services on its oil well. *Fortenberry*, 391 So.2d at 105. Damson (like Penn Virginia here) engaged the services of Fortenberry Drilling Company, Inc. (Fortenberry) as the independent drilling contractor and to supply a rig (like D & D here). Damson also engaged the services of independent contractor, Oil Field Rental Service, who employed Mathis to run casing into the well (like DDC and Reed in the case *sub judice*). *Id.* On January 31, 1977, the night of the accident, there was an irregular stacking of the drill collars left by the Fortenberry drilling crew. *Id.* at 106. Mathis and his fellow crew members from Oil Field Rental straightened the pipe rack, and while doing so Mathis fell and suffered multiple serious injuries. *Id.* Mathis brought suit against Damson and Fortenberry for his injuries.

Like Mr. Reed here, Mathis claimed that Damson and Fortenberry were negligent in failing to provide him a safe place to work.¹¹ *Id.* at 107. Although Mathis recovered in the lower court, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and rendered the judgment holding:

We also recognize the rule that an owner or occupier of premises owes no duty of protection to an independent contractor when the contractor or his employee is injured by an activity which is intimately connected with defects which the contractor has undertaken to repair. *Spruill v. Yazoo Valley Oil Mill, Inc.*, 317 So.2d 140 (Miss.1975); *Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton*, 235 So.2d 267 (Miss.1970), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 916, 91 S.Ct. 174, 27 L.Ed.2d 155; *United Roofing & Siding Co. v. Seefeld*, 222 So.2d 406 (Miss.1969). In this case, the Oil Field Rental crew had undertaken the rearrangement of the pipes upon the rack and thus Mathis cannot recover [from Damson or Fortenberry] for injuries occurring as he was performing this task.

¹¹ Reed originally brought his claims against Penn Virginia and D & D Drilling equally. On February 8, 2007, this Court granted summary judgment to Penn Virginia. (R. at 491-494; R.E. at 189-92)

Id. at106.

t

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